1993

# Lyle C. Hendricks v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Petition for Extraordinary Relief is not a successive or delayed petition, nor is it repetitious, when through Petitioner's own diligence new evidence is obtained showing perjured testimony regarding the formulation of "intent" which subsequently resulted in a conviction for an offense which was not committed. Ineffective assistance of counsel.

### REPORT OF DECISION

The [r]uling on writ of extraordinary relief by Judge Michael Glasmann of the Second Judicial District Court of January 12th, 1993. Docketing Statement of February 16th, 1993, and Utah Court of Appeals Order Case 930055-CA by Judge Regnal W. Garff, Judge dated March 23rd, 1993 is attached.

### STATEMENT OF GROUNDS FOR JURISDICTION

The decision previously referred to was filed on January 12th, 1993. No orders granting extension have been granted. The Utah Court of Appeals has

jurisdiction pursuant to Title 78, Chapter 2a, Section 3 (2) (g) of the Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, and Rule 65 B (b) (13) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure.

### **DETERMINATIVE PROVISIONS**

See Addendum

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1. This is an appeal from a ruling in the Second Judicial District Court Pursuant to the dismissal of a Petition for Extraordinary Relief which was filed under Rule 65B of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure based on newly discovered evidence regarding the veracity of one of the state's key witnesses.
2. The witnesses testimony was relied upon for the formulation of "intent" in the crime of aggravated robbery.
3. Appellant now has proof the this witnesses testimony was false.
4. Dismissal of the original petition by Judge Glasmann was on the grounds of being repetitious; frivolous.
5. Notice of Appeal was filed with the Utah Court of Appeals on January 29th, 1993.
6. Appellee's Motion to Dismiss before this court was denied on March 23, 1993, by Judge Garff.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

In the afternoon of December 8, 1987, an individual later identified as the

Appellant, Lyle C. Hendricks, entered Murray's Pharmacy and walked to the back of the store where the pharmacy's owner, Mr. Murray and an employee, Mrs. Blackwell, were working. He had a gun in his hand and asked the owner, Mr. Murray, for all of his class II narcotics. Mr. Murray replied that he did not have any class II narcotics and when questioned opened a drawer to show Mr. Hendricks that it was empty. At that point, Mr. Hendricks turned around and walked out stating that he was "only joking anyway". Mr. Murray immediately telephoned the police as Mrs. Blackwell went to the front door. Mrs. Blackwell identified the Appellant's car leaving the parking lot of the pharmacy. Mr. Murray forwarded the information to the Ogden City Police Department which led to Appellant's later apprehension and the recovery of an unloaded nine millimeter handgun. The vehicle was seen by Ogden City police officers and after a chase, the vehicle stopped near 24th Street and Jefferson. Mrs. Blackwell was taken to the area where she identified the vehicle as the one leaving Murray's Pharmacy.

Mr. Hendricks was arrested as a suspect in the robbery and both witnesses were brought to the jail to be present at a line-up. both Mr. Murray and Mrs. Blackwell picked the Appellant out of the line-up as the individual who entered Murray's Pharmacy with a gun. While waiting for the line-up to occur, Mr. Hendricks kept indicating his innocence to Officer Zimmermann until finally Officer Zimmermann advised him of his Miranda rights. After being advised, Mr. Hendricks indicated he wanted to talk. During the course of the interrogation, the Appellant indicated a



series of facts regarding himself and his vehicle, but finally admitted he had gone into Murray's pharmacy, but not to commit an armed robbery. Mr. Hendricks claimed he entered the pharmacy at about 2:30 or 2:45 to get some cold medicine. At that point, Officer Zimmermann indicated that the Appellant wouldn't answer any more of his questions.

After the initial questioning was terminated the Appellant (Mr. Hendricks) did not talk to any of the officers until the next morning when an Officer Minor happened to be present in the jail during a video arraignment process. Mr. Hendricks had apparently been unable to come to terms with his private counsel, Paul Stockdale, and was requesting the assistance of a public defender. At this time, a Mr. G. Scott Jensen was appearing for the Public Defenders Association to handle video arraignments on the morning law and motion calendar. Throughout the arraignment process Mr. Jensen was present with the Appellant and Detective Minor. Detective Minor did not renew the Miranda warnings with Mr. Hendricks, and even so, proceeded to ask Mr. Hendricks questions regarding the robbery charge. During that discussion no statements adverse to the Appellant's position were given. Subsequently, Detective Minor formulated a report and testified at Appellant's trial that during this period Mr. Hendricks "confessed" to him the required intentional elements of the crime of aggravated robbery. Detective Minor stated that Mr. G. Scott Jensen was present during this confession.

At trial, during the testimony of Detective Minor the Appellant, Mr. Hendricks

objected. A conference was held in judges chambers and the Appellants trial counsel, Stephen Laker, was told to contact Mr. Jensen. At this point the court recognized if Detective Minor's testimony about the confession were untrue the jury would be tainted and a mistrial would be in order. Appellant's trial counsel, Stephen Laker did not attempt to contact Mr. Jensen as the court instructed. As a result of this indifference perjured testimony entered into the record and this testimony played a major part in the juries verdict. It is only now, several years later, through Mr. Hendricks own diligence that he has obtained a affidavit from Mr. Jensen. This affidavit proves Appellant's contention that there never was a "confession" to Detective Minor.

## **ARGUMENT**

### **Point I**

PETITION FOR EXTRAORDINARY RELIEF IN THIS CASE IS NOT A SUCCESSIVE OR REPETITIOUS PETITION WHEN PETITIONER'S DILIGENCE PROVIDES NEW EVIDENCE IN ADDITION TO DEMONSTRATION A COLORABLE SHOWING OF FACTUAL INNOCENCE.

In Sanders v. United States, 373 U.S. 1 (1963) the Supreme Court stated that successive petitions can be denied if three conditions are evident: first, the same ground presented in the subsequent petition was decided adversely to the petitioner on the prior petition; second, the prior determination was on the merits; and third, "ends of justice" would not be served by reconsideration of the claim.

While it is true that the Appellant has filed a previous petition and his post-

conviction appeal, his claim has never been borne out to the current level as he now has hard evidence showing that a highly prejudicial interrogation never took place between himself and a Detective Minor. In previously raising a ineffectiveness of counsel claim, Appellant has stated that he did object through his trial counsel, one Stephen Laker, about the false nature of Detective Minor's testimony. Then, the trial court immediately called for a conference in chambers where both counsels were instructed as to the fact that if the Detective's testimony were in fact false, a mistrial would result. Defense counsel was then instructed to contact the attorney present at the video arraignment, one G. Scott Jensen, for verification. This never occurred.

Appellant contends that the "ends of justice" require an intense reconsideration of this claim. Even if "abuse of the writ" is found, however, the court may not dismiss the petition if the "ends of justice" require consideration of the claim. Sanders, 373 U.S. at 18-19. A claim of constitutional magnitude is involved. In White v. Ragen, 324 U.S. 760, 89 LEd 1348, 65 SCt 978 (1953) the United States Supreme Court held that a conviction secured by the use of perjured testimony known to be such by the prosecuting attorney is lacking due process. In addition, the case of Bivens v. Six Unknown Agents, 403 U.S. 388, 29 LEd 2d 619, 91 SCt 1999 (1971), the Court held that government agents who act in an unconstitutional manner become liable for monetary damages.

Notwithstanding liability here, for it appears that the real damage has been done to Mr. Hendricks. The Appellant, Lyle Hendricks, has brought a showing of

good cause that justifies the filing of a successive habeas corpus claim as stated by the Utah court in Hurst v. Cook, 777 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1989) where the Court stipulated that such a showing of good cause may be established by showing: (1) the denial of a constitutional right pursuant to a new law that is, or might be, retroactive; (2) new facts not previously known that would show the denial of a constitutional right or might change the outcome of the trial; (3) the existence of fundamental unfairness in a conviction; (4) the illegality of a sentence; or (5) a claim overlooked in good faith with no intent to delay or abuse the writ.

Clearly, the affidavits of G. Scott Jensen constitute the requisite new facts consisting of a denial of due process claim. Mr. Jensen was present at the video arraignment, and in stating that the interrogation by Detective Minor never took place, the State now lacks the intent necessary to prove the crime of aggravated robbery. A condition that would have most definitely changed the outcome of the trial.

The existence of such a fundamental unfairness goes to the heart of the purpose of the writ. Habeas Corpus is not to be used to review a final judgment arrived at through regular proceedings and due process of law by a court having jurisdiction, but it is to be used to protect anyone who is restrained of his liberty where there exists no jurisdiction or authority, or where the requirements of the law have been so ignored or distorted that the party is substantially and effectively denied what is included in the term due process of law, or where some other circumstance exists which would make it wholly unconscionable not to re-examine the conviction.

Bryant v. Turner, 19 Utah 2d 284, 431 P.2d 121 (1967) ; Gallegos v. Turner, 17 Utah 2d 273, 490 P.2d 386 (1965). See also Rammell v. Smith, 560 P.2d 1108 (Utah 1977).

In Kuhlmann v. Wilson, 477 U.S. 436 (1986) (plurality opinion) a plurality of the United States Supreme Court agreed that the "ends of justice" require that a petitioner filing a successive petition supplement his constitutional claim with a colorable showing of factual innocence. Although acceptance of the Kuhlmann plurality standard has varied among the circuits that have addressed the issue, Appellant contends that with only Detective Minor's testimony, and the prosecutions mention of it in closing statements, forming the only basis for the necessary "intent" to commit aggravated robbery, now, without this testimony as it is untrue and the requisite suppression of its mention in closing, the Appellant Mr. Hendricks is shown, inter alia, to be factually innocent of the crime of aggravated robbery.

And, despite the preference for finality in litigation, re judicata does not apply to habeas proceedings. Sanders, 373 U.S. at 7. The rationale for not applying res judicata goes again to the heart of the writ: habeas proceedings are designed to hold the government accountable to the judiciary for a person's imprisonment. Therefore, "access to the courts on habeas must not be thus impeded". Id. at 8. See also Daniels v. Blackburn, 763 F.2d 705 (5th Cir. 1985) (Res judicata principles do not apply in habeas corpus proceedings).

## **POINT II**

## APPELLANT WAS DENIED HIS RIGHT TO EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL

The sixth amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I Section 12 of the Utah State Constitution guarantees the right to effective assistance of counsel in criminal prosecutions. In Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984) the Supreme Court established a two-prong standard to govern ineffective assistance claims. To obtain reversal of a conviction the defendant must prove (1) that counsel's performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness, and (2) that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.

The Utah Supreme Court has adopted this approach and stated the following in State v. Geary 707 P.2d 645, 646 (Utah 1985):

In challenging a conviction on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel, it is the defendant's burden to show: (1) that his counsel rendered a deficient performance in some demonstrable manner, and (2) that the outcome of the trial would probably have been different but for counsel's error. Codianna v. Morris 660 P.2d 1101 (Utah 1983)

Failure to meet either of these requirements will defeat a claim based on ineffectiveness of counsel. Additionally the claims must be "sufficient to overcome the strong presumption that counsel rendered adequate assistance and exercised reasonable professional judgment". State v. Frame 723 P.2d 401, 405 (Utah 1986).

To satisfy the requisite "prongs" of the Strickland and overcome the strong

presumption of Frame, the court may conclude that a single error rendered counsel's assistance ineffective, but it must consider the totality of the circumstances in making its determination. Strickland 466 U.S. at 690. It is exactly such a "totality of circumstances" that the Appellant prays this Court consider. For it is all too easy for a court, examining counsel's defense after it has proved unsuccessful, to conclude that a particular act or omission of counsel was reasonable, thereby voiding a claim of ineffectiveness.

Initially, the Appellant developed a somewhat strained relationship with his trial counsel, Mr. Stephen Laker, which hampered communication between the two. In the course of the trial proceedings, Mr. Laker met with the Appellant one time. Surely facing a serious first-degree felony charge requires more due diligence when a conviction could result in a sentence that would expire with the Appellant's own natural life.

Specifically, the Appellant points to his attorney's failure to make any attempt to suppress the supposed statement Appellant made to Detective Minor. Supposed statement Appellant now has proof never occurred. (Affidavit of G. Scott Jensen no. 5 and no. 6). The likelihood of the Appellant prevailing on the suppression of these inculpatory statements and confession is evidenced by the discussion in chambers on-the-record, between Judge Roth and Mr. Laker;

The Court: "you were aware that testimony would be at least attempted to be introduced today at trial?"

Mr. Laker: "yes"

The Court: ". . . it would have been logical to have a suppression hearing prior to trial . . ."

The Court: ". . . if I do that now, we have a mistrial".

(Transcript Pages 115, line 11 through line 15)

Despite counsel's forewarning from the trial court, and despite counsel's client urging him to investigate and make claim, counsel failed to investigate or make the claim.

In addition, Appellant points to his counsel's failure to cross-examine many of the State's witnesses (Transcript, page 44, page 58, page 87, page 90). Counsel's failure to make an opening statement to the jury (Transcript, page 13). Counsel's failure to call witnesses on behalf of the defense and in presenting no defense whatsoever (Transcript, page 129).

During the course of the trial an argument ensued between counsel and his client, over Mr. Hendricks requesting that he be called to testify on his own behalf. In the course of this verbal exchange, counsel voir dired his own client, on the record, that if he took the stand on his own behalf that the State would introduce evidence of a prior conviction (Transcript, page 124). It should be noted that this issue was never addressed by the trial court.

It is also possible that counsel committed perjury before the trial court in response to the Court's Order that counsel interview Attorney G. Scott Jensen and



produce him before the Court (Transcript, page 122 and Affidavit of G. Scott Jensen).

Appellant contends the outcome of his trial would have been different. To prevail, the Appellant must:

show that but for the alleged deficiencies of counsel there exists any reasonable probability that the jury's verdict would have been different. He [must show] that the adversarial process of the trial was so undermined that the jury could not have produced a just result.

Frame at 405.

Section 76-2-307 of the Utah Code Ann. (1991) "Voluntary termination of efforts prior to offense" states as follows:

It is an affirmative defense to a prosecution in which an actor's criminal responsibility arises from his own conduct or from being party to the commission of the offense, the actor voluntarily terminated his effort to promote or facilitate its commission and either:

- (1) Gave timely warning to the proper law enforcement authorities or the intended victim; or
- (2) Wholly deprives his prior efforts of effectiveness in the commission.

Appellant states and the record clearly shows that he took no Class II narcotics when he left Murray's Pharmacy on December 8, 1987 (Transcript, page 37, line 8) through line 15) while there were large amounts of other scheduled controlled substances and cash present. the Appellant, armed with an unloaded non-functional weapon, simply stated, "I was only kidding anyway" and left the store (Transcript, page 33, line 15 and page 37, line 14).

---

1 The Section 76-2-307 U.C. Ann. (Utah Code Annotated) Affirmative defense of voluntary termination arises here not as a point of appeal, but only as a demonstration of a defense strategy left unused by counsel. It is utilized here for a showing satisfaction of both prongs of Stickland in that Appellant's actions constituted

its definition yet defense counsel failed to recognize, raise, or employ it.

These facts show an uncanny parroting of Section 76-2-307 (2) of the Utah Code Ann. wherein the Appellant, "[W]holly deprives his prior efforts of effectiveness in the commission", of an aggravated robbery. Appellant contends that defense counsel's failure to recognize such an elemental affirmative defense, let alone raise or utilize it, constitutes both a showing of prejudice and a deficiency in performance as required by Strickland and Frame.

The Appellant, Mr. Hendricks, situation meets the criteria in totality of circumstances that the Court's find most frequently results in reversal. Mr. Hendricks was completely deprived of any defense or allowed to testify on his own behalf, because of an untold conclusion[s] by defense counsel. See State v. Dumaine, 783 P.2d 1184, 1191 (Arizona 1989); and Webb v. Texas, 409 U.S. 95, 34 Led 2d 330, 93 SCt 351 (1972).

Finally, accord defense counsel Mr. Laker's failure to file a timely Docketing Statement in the correct court or to perfect appeal. Dunn v. Cook, 791 P.2d 873 (Utah 1990); Fernandez v. Cook, 783 P.2d 547 (Utah 1989) as cited in Jensen v. Deland, 795 P.2d 619 (Utah 1989).

### **POINT III**

WITH NEW EVIDENCE AND RECOGNITION OF APPELLANT'S VOLUNTARY TERMINATION OF CRIMINAL EFFORTS, FACTS DO NOT SUPPORT A FINDING OF GUILT ON THE CHARGE OF AGGRAVATED ROBBERY.

The Utah Code Annotated, Section 76-6-302, requires the State to prove

beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant, in the course of committing the robbery, (a) used a firearm or a facsimile of a firearm, knife or a facsimile of a knife, or a deadly weapon; (b) cause serious bodily injury upon another. Part (III) of Section 76-6-302 provides that "For the purposes of this part an act shall be deemed to be:

In the course of committing a robbery if it occurs in an attempt to commit, during the commission of, or in the immediate flight after the attempt or commission of a robbery. In order to satisfy its burden it is incumbent upon the State to prove beyond a reasonable doubt the Defendant unlawfully and intentionally at least attempted to take personal property in the possession of another from his person, or from his immediate presence against his will accomplished by means of force or fear and that in doing so he used a firearm".

The Utah Supreme Court has expressed a rather strict standard of review when the Court is asked to review the evidence to determine the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction. State v. Booker, 709 P.2d 342 (Utah 1985), where the Court stated:

[W]e review the evidence and all inferences which may be reasonably drawn from it in a light most favorable to the verdict of the jury. We reverse a jury conviction for insufficient evidence only when the evidence so viewed is so sufficiently inclusive or inherently improbable that reasonable minds must have entertained a reasonable doubt that Defendant committed the crime of which he was convicted.

State v. Petree, Utah, 659 P.2d 443, 444 (1983); accord State v. McCardell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942, 945 (1982); State v. Martinez, Utah, 709 P.2d 355 (1985).

The Appellant contends that even with this standard of review the facts

demonstrated in the present case are now clearly controverted. Appellant argues that with newly discovered evidence (Affidavit of G. Scott Jensen) showing that the statements to Detective Minor, in fact, never occurred, the State cannot show the requisite "intent" necessary for a showing that the crime he committed was an aggravated robbery.

From the Affidavit of G. Scott Jensen:

"5. At no time was I or Mr. Hendricks in an interview room with Detective Minor on the morning of December 9th, 1987, where I left on any occasion, where Mr. Hendricks was with Detective Minor alone.

6. Mr. Hendricks did stop Detective Minor in the hallway by the video arraignment room and asked why he was being charged with a 1st degree felony, where Detective Minor stated, "cause a gun was involved" whereupon Mr. Hendricks went into the video arraignment and waived preliminary hearing and asked to be sentenced.

7. I do remember a phone call from Stephen Laker on January 20th, 1988 asking about Mr. Hendricks, but at the time I could not recollect who Mr. Hendricks was, I was not asked about the facts concerning me or Mr. Hendricks being in the interview room with Detective Minor or I would have testified to the facts which would have been inconsistent with Detective Minor's testimony concerning Mr. Hendricks alleged confession".

Appellant points to the State's own witnesses who admitted that when the Appellant asked for any Schedule II drugs, he was told that the object of his desire did not exist in the premises. The witnesses all clearly relate that the Appellant immediately turned around and walked out of the store the same way that he had

entered, making the comment, "I was only kidding anyway" (Transcript, page 37, line 13 through 15).

The State's witnesses made it clear that there were other narcotics available as well as substantial amount of money which was required to be in the cash register of the business. There is no argument whatsoever that the Appellant made any attempt to take any of those items from the possession of the store owner or employee.

These facts clearly indicate that the Appellant voluntarily terminated his criminal efforts prior to the commission of an aggravated robbery. Section 76-2-307 (2) of the Utah Code Ann. concerns exactly such a scenario, "Voluntary termination of efforts prior to offense". Therein arises an affirmative defense to exactly such conduct as was attempted by the Appellant, Mr. Hendricks.

With no requisite intent to commit the crime of aggravated robbery and a voluntary termination of his efforts prior to the commission of an aggravated robbery, Appellant is not suggesting that a crime did not take place, rather the Appellant argues that the uncontroverted facts suggest that Appellant is guilty of an aggravated assault rather than an aggravated robbery.

Section 76-5-103 of the Utah Code Ann. Aggravated Assault reads as follows:

- (1) A person commits aggravated assault if he commits assault as defined in Sec. 76-5-102 and he;
  - (a) Intentionally causes serious bodily injury to another; or
  - (b) Uses a dangerous weapon as defined in Sec. 76-1-601 or other means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury.
- (2) Aggravated assault is a third-degree felony.

Finally, Appellant contends that the court failed to consider Section 76-3-402 et al. of the Utah Code Ann. Conviction of lower degree of offense.

### **CONCLUSION**

Appellant Lyle C. Hendricks petition for extraordinary relief was improperly dismissed in Second Judicial District Court. Due to unusual circumstances; newly discovered evidence of an affidavit by an officer of the court which casts doubt as to formulation of the requisite intent to commit the crime for which he was convicted.

And a fundamental unfairness in that he was denied effective assistance of counsel, wherein his defense counsel failed to attempt suppression of prejudicial testimony, failed to cross-examine witnesses, failed to call witnesses for the defense, failed to address the jury, deliberately prejudiced his client by subjecting him to a voir dire in the presence of the jury, and failed to utilize an essential affirmative defense which, should have resulted in the Appellant's conviction on a lesser degree of offense.

Wherefore, the Appellant appeals to this Honorable Court to reverse the decision of the Second Judicial District Court overruling Judge Glasmann's dismissal, remand the case for an evidentiary hearing, and any other relief this Court deems necessary.