1993

Lyle C. Hendricks v. State of Utah : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION AND NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from the district court's dismissal of a petition for writ of habeas corpus involving a first degree felony. Appellee has filed a motion to transfer this appeal to the Utah Supreme Court, based upon rule 44 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure, and Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(g) (Supp. 1992). Section 78-2a-3(2)(g) explicitly excludes from this Court's jurisdiction, appeals from petitions challenging convictions of first degree felonies. Jurisdiction properly lies with the Utah Supreme Court pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(i), as this is an appeal "from the district court involving a conviction of a first degree or capital felony."

STATEMENT OF ISSUE PRESENTED ON APPEAL AND
STANDARD OF APPELLATE REVIEW

This case involves the summary dismissal of a petition for writ of habeas corpus. The issue raised on appeal is:

Did the district court properly dismiss the petition as frivolous? In reviewing a dismissal of a habeas corpus petition, the appellate court examines the record "in the light most favorable to the findings and judgment . . . and will not reverse if there is a reasonable basis in the record to support the trial court's denial of the writ." Hall v. Utah Board of Pardons, 806 P.2d 217 (Utah App. 1991) (citations omitted). See also Wagstaff v. Barnes, 802 P.2d 774, 778 (Utah App. 1990); Medina v. Cook, 779 P.2d 658 (Utah 1989); Bundy v. DeLand, 763 P.2d 803, 805 (Utah 1988).

However, no deference is accorded the lower court's conclusions of law underlying the dismissal of the petition. Rather, the appellate court reviews such determinations for correctness. Gerrish v. Barnes, 844 P.2d 315, 318-19 (Utah 1992) (citing Fernandez v. Cook, 783 P.2d 547, 549 (Utah 1989)).

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES AND RULES

Any relevant text of constitutional provisions, statutes or rules pertinent to the resolution of the issue presented is contained in the body of this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE¹

Petitioner was convicted of aggravated robbery, a first degree felony, in violation of Utah Code Ann. § 76-6-302 (1987)

¹Appellee relies on many documents that are not part of the record on appeal, but were considered by the district court in dismissing the petition. Therefore, appellee has filed a motion to supplement the record, which is currently before this Court.

(Addendum A). On February 22, 1988, petitioner was sentenced to a term of five years to life, along with a one year firearm enhancement (Id.). Petitioner timely appealed his conviction (Addendum B). On appeal, petitioner claimed that: (1) his admissions to police while in custody were improperly admitted at trial; (2) the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction; (3) he received ineffective assistance of counsel; and (4) he was subjected to prosecutorial misconduct (Addendum C). The Utah Court of Appeals affirmed petitioner's conviction in a memorandum decision dated February 5, 1990 (Id.).

On November 20, 1989, petitioner filed a motion for new trial in the Second Judicial District Court (Addendum D). In his motion, petitioner claimed that newly discovered evidence demonstrated his right to a new trial (Id.). Specifically, petitioner argued that his attorney, Stephen Laker, perjured himself when he told the trial court that he had spoken to attorney Scott Jensen concerning petitioner's case (Id. at 4). Petitioner further claimed that Scott Jensen's testimony would have contradicted that of Detective Miner (Id.). The district court denied petitioner's motion for new trial on December 12, 1989, finding that, even after a review of Scott Jensen's affidavit, there was no substantial evidence to support petitioner's claims (Addendum E).

On or about October 29, 1990, petitioner filed a "Motion for an Order of Dismissal of Information" in the Second Judicial District Court (Addendum F). At a minimum, petitioner claimed

that: (1) the district court lacked jurisdiction "of the subject-matter of aggravated robbery"; (2) Detective Miner perjured himself; and (3) the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction (Id. at 5, 6, 9). The district court denied petitioner's motion to dismiss on December 26, 1990 as being wholly without merit (Addendum G).

On April 27, 1992, petitioner filed a "petition for writ of error coram nobis in trial court" in the Second Judicial District Court (Addendum H). Petitioner claimed that: (1) his trial counsel, Stephen Laker, failed to contact petitioner's previous attorney, Scott Jensen, regarding Detective Miner's testimony; (2) Detective Miner lied under oath regarding a jailroom conversation; and (3) Scott Jensen's affidavit constituted "newly discovered evidence" supporting petitioner's claims (Id.). On May 15, 1992, the district court dismissed the petition as frivolous, on the ground that it was repetitious of motions previously made and denied (Addendum I).

On December 1, 1992, petitioner filed a "writ of extraordinary relief", hereinafter referred to as "petition", in the Second Judicial District Court (R. 1-4; Addendum J). Petitioner alleged that: (1) Detective Miner perjured himself; (2) his counsel, Stephen Laker, was ineffective for failing to challenge the perjured testimony; (3) the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction; and (4) the affidavit of Scott Jensen constituted "newly discovered evidence" (Id.). On January 13, 1993, the district court dismissed the petition as frivolous on the

ground that it was "repetitious of motions previously made and denied" (R. 13; Addendum K). Petitioner filed a notice of appeal in the district court on January 25, 1993 (R. 15; Addendum L).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A statement of facts beyond those set forth in the above Statement of the Case is not necessary to resolve the issue presented on appeal.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court properly dismissed as frivolous the December 1992 petition for writ of habeas corpus; the court reviewed the file from petitioner's criminal proceedings and correctly determined that petitioner's allegations were repetitious of motions previously denied. Petitioner's claims either were raised and litigated on appeal, or should have been raised on appeal. Furthermore, petitioner's claims are time-barred by the statute of limitations.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED THE PETITION AS FRIVOLOUS: PETITIONER'S CLAIMS EITHER WERE RAISED AND DECIDED OR SHOULD HAVE BEEN RAISED ON APPEAL.

In Hurst v. Cook, 777 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1989), the Utah Supreme Court set out the standard of review for claims previously adjudicated on appeal. Specifically, the Court stated that

A ground for relief from a conviction or sentence that has once been fully and fairly

adjudicated on appeal or in a prior habeas proceeding should not be readjudicated unless it can be shown that there are "unusual circumstances." For example, a prior adjudication is not a bar to reexamination of a conviction if there has been a retroactive change in the law, a subsequent discovery of suppressed evidence, or newly discovered evidence.

Lairby v. Barnes, 793 P.2d 377 (Utah 1990) (quoting Hurst, 777 P.2d at 1036). Petitioner's claims that: (1) Detective Miner perjured himself; (2) his counsel, Stephen Laker, was ineffective for failing to challenge the perjured testimony; and (3) the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction, were all raised and adjudicated on petitioner's direct appeal (Addendum C). Petitioner claims he did not raise these claims on his appeal because he did not have the affidavit of Scott Jensen, which he characterizes as "newly discovered evidence" (R. 2; Addendum J). However, petitioner's claim is unfounded. Petitioner procured Mr. Jensen's affidavit, which is dated December 6, 1988, several years ago, and attached it to his motion for new trial (Addendum D). Furthermore, review of the appellate court's memorandum decision reveals that petitioner submitted Mr. Jensen's affidavit to the court on his direct appeal (Utah Court of Appeals memorandum decision dated February 5, 1990, attached as Addendum C). Specifically, the court of appeals stated,

[a]ppellant's claim that attorney Jensen's testimony at trial would support appellant's argument that Miner lied about the confessions is unsupported by the record. Jensen's affidavit acknowledges that he may have been present at the prearrest meeting with Miner but has no recollection of the meeting or any discussions. We find no error in

defense counsel not calling Jensen as a witness at trial.

Id. at 4. Since Mr. Jensen's affidavit is not newly discovered evidence, there are no unusual circumstances warranting reexamination of petitioner's claims.

Even if the exact claims contained in the petition were not raised on appeal, petitioner is barred from now obtaining habeas corpus relief. A writ of habeas corpus is not a substitute for direct appeal and cannot be used to fulfill the purpose of regular appellate review. Codianna v. Morris, 660 P.2d 1101 (Utah 1983). See also Wagstaff v. Barnes, 802 P.2d 774 (Utah App. 1990); Hurst v. Cook, 777 P.2d 1029 (Utah 1989). The Utah Supreme Court has stated:

It is therefore well settled in this state that allegations of error that could have been but were not raised on appeal from a criminal conviction cannot be raised by habeas corpus or postconviction review, except in unusual circumstances.

Codianna, 660 P.2d at 1104. The Court further noted that habeas corpus may be invoked

only when the court had no jurisdiction over the person or the offense, or where the requirements of law have been so disregarded that the party is substantially and effectively denied due process of law, or where some such fact is shown that it would be unconscionable not to re-examine the conviction.

Id. at 1105 (emphasis added) (citations omitted). If the alleged error is known or should have been known to the petitioner at the time judgment was entered,

it must be reviewed in the manner and within the time permitted by regular prescribed procedure, or the judgment becomes final and is not subject to further attack, except in some such unusual circumstance as we have mentioned above. Were it otherwise, the regular rules of procedure governing appeals and the limitations of time specified therein would be rendered impotent.

Id. (citations omitted). Accord Gerrish v. Barnes, 844 P.2d 315 319 (Utah 1992).

Petitioner's claims should have been known to petitioner by the time he was sentenced. Therefore, petitioner should have raised these claims on direct appeal. Petitioner claims that he did not raise the issues on direct appeal because he did not have Scott Jensen's affidavit, which petitioner characterizes as "newly discovered evidence", enabling him to bypass the requirement of bringing all claims on appeal (R. 2). However, the foregoing demonstrates that Mr. Jensen's affidavit is not "newly discovered evidence". Therefore, petitioner has not demonstrated unusual circumstances warranting his failure to raise all claims on direct appeal. Since petitioner's claims are not proper for habeas corpus or post-conviction relief, the district court properly dismissed the petition as frivolous.

POINT II

THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY DISMISSED
THE PETITION AS FRIVOLOUS: PETITIONER'S
CLAIMS WERE REPETITIOUS OF PREVIOUS
MOTIONS WHICH HAD BEEN DENIED.

The district court's dismissal of the petition as frivolous was based upon the finding that the petition "is

repetitious of motions previously made and denied" (R. 13; Addendum K). A review of petitioner's file from his criminal proceedings clearly supports the district court's conclusion. The claims contained in the petition were previously raised by petitioner in his: (1) motion for new trial; (2) motion for an order of dismissal of information; and (3) petition for writ of error coram nobis in trial court (Addenda D, F, and H). Petitioner merely reasserted claims previously raised and denied in order to get one more bite at the apple. As already noted, claims which have been previously litigated should not be reasserted in a petition for habeas corpus or post-conviction relief, absent unusual circumstances. See Hurst, 777 P.2d at 1036. Therefore, the district court properly dismissed the petition as frivolous. Since petitioner has failed to demonstrate the impropriety of the district court's ruling, this Court should affirm the dismissal of the petition.

POINT III

PETITIONER'S CLAIMS ARE TIME-BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS CONTAINED IN UTAH CODE ANN. § 78-12-31.1.

Utah Code Ann. § 78-12-31.1, which governs habeas corpus and post-conviction relief, provides that such actions must be filed:

Within three months: